## S219567

No	
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF C	CALIFORNIA
CHERRITY WHEATHERFORD,	SUPREME COURT
Plaintiff/Appellant/Petitioner,	FILED
VS.	JUN <b>26 2014</b>
CITY OF SANTA RAFAEL, et al.,	Frank A. McGuire Clerk
Defendants/Respondents.	Deputy
	* 19
APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIE	W

On Review of the Published Decision of the Court of Appeal, First District, Division One, *Wheatherford v. City of San Rafael* (May 22, 2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 460 [Petition for Rehearing Denied June 16, 2012]

Appellate Case No. A138949

#### INTRODUCTION

Proceeding as a taxpayer pursuant to section 526a, plaintiff seeks to challenge the vehicle impoundment practices of defendants City of San Rafael (the City) and County of Marin (the County) under Vehicle Code section 14602.6, which authorizes the 30-day impoundment of vehicles operated by a person without a valid driver's license. Plaintiff is primarily concerned about the significant impact of Vehicle Code section 14602.6 on undocumented immigrants, who under the existing state of the law cannot obtain California driver's licenses and as a result frequently suffer the harsh penalty of vehicle impoundment.

Plaintiff is a 36-year-old single mother of a 19-year-old daughter. Plaintiff and her daughter are citizens and long-time residents of the City and County, where they rent a very modest 2-bedroom apartment. Plaintiff works very hard to support herself and her daughter. She also does her fair share to support state and local government. She pays income, sales and gasoline taxes, as well as other forms of taxes routinely imposed by cities, counties and the State. She does not, however, pay real property or business taxes. Like millions of other hardworking California taxpayers, plaintiff does not own and cannot afford to buy real property or start a business in this state—particularly in the Bay Area, one of the most expensive real estate markets in the United States.<sup>2</sup> She is not old enough to have

The Complaint expressly so alleges in its opening paragraphs dedicated to

purchased a home decades ago when prices were lower. No one in her family has died and left her real property as an inheritance. And despite her occasional \$5 play, her lucky numbers have not been called in the state lottery.

Though plaintiff is poorer than many other Californians and as result does not own real property or a business, she has never felt herself a second-class citizen, less deserving or important than her wealthier neighbors who own expensive homes and run their own businesses. *Until now*. The Court of Appeal has told plaintiff that because she is not wealthy enough, or otherwise fortunate enough, to own real property or a business and pay takes assessed thereon, she lacks taxpayer standing under section 526a to challenge the legality of state and local government action.

This Court has said the "primary purpose" of section 526a "is to enable a large body of the citizenry to challenge governmental action which would otherwise go unchallenged in the courts because of the standing requirement" and thus the statute provides "a general citizen remedy for controlling illegal governmental activity." (Van Atta, supra, 27 Cal. 3d 424, 447, italics added.) The Court of Appeal's holding says otherwise. It says taxpayer standing is available only to the much smaller subset of the citizenry which is wealthy enough, or otherwise fortunate enough, to own real property or a retail business and pay taxes assessed thereon; to the exclusion of hard-working, taxpaying citizens such as plaintiff, who pay other forms of taxes which are also used to fund government action but

the issue of taxpayer standing. (CT 1-2.) Inexplicably, these allegations were omitted from the Court of Appeal's Opinion, and the Court of Appeal summarily denied plaintiff's petition for rehearing and modification of the Opinion asking that the allegations be included.

which the Court of Appeal considers to be unworthy of taxpayer standing under section 526a, such as income, sales and gasoline taxes.

Though section 526 was originally enacted in 1909 and this Court has considered dozens of taxpayer cases brought under the statute, the Court has never expressly said what type of taxes must be paid to qualify for standing under section 526a. But on several occasions the Court has found taxpayer standing on the part of plaintiffs who plainly had not paid real property or business taxes, and necessarily paid other forms of taxes, like income, sales and gasoline taxes, such as *Tobe v. City of Santa Ana* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 1069, 1081-1086 (*Tobe*), involving two homeless plaintiffs who were granted taxpayer standing to challenge the constitutionality of a nocamping ordinance, and *Arrieta v. Mahon* (1982) 31 Cal.3d 381 (*Arrieta*), brought by several former renters who had been evicted from their home and were found to have taxpayer standing to challenge the legality of the evictions.

Nonetheless, the Court of Appeal in this case elected to follow the lead of two previous appellate court cases, *Torres v. City of Yorba Linda* (4<sup>th</sup> Dist., Div. 3, 1993) 13 Cal.App.4th 1035 (*Torres*) and *Cornelius v. Los Angeles County etc. Authority* (2<sup>nd</sup> Dist., Div. 4, 1996) 49 Cal.App.4th 1761 (*Cornelius*), which did <u>not</u> cite *Tobe* or *Arrieta*, and which held that taxpayer standing under section 526a is limited to plaintiffs who have paid real property taxes; payment of income, sales and gasoline taxes does not suffice.

While plaintiff's complaint specifically concerns the legality of the City and County's vehicle impoundment practices, the Court of Appeal's holding applies broadly to <u>all</u> forms of government action because "[t]he issue of whether a party has standing focuses on the plaintiff, not the issues

he or she seeks to have determined." (Opn. at fn. 7, italics added.) The Court of Appeal's published opinion thus prohibits plaintiff and others like her from using the taxpayer standing statute to challenge <u>any</u> form of government action, no matter how unlawful and harmful it may be and no matter how unlikely it is that wealthier and more fortunate taxpayers who own homes and businesses will bring suit under section 526a to challenge the government action. Such a rule enjoys no place in taxpayer standing and should be reviewed by the Court and promptly abolished.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- 1. What type of taxes must a plaintiff pay, or be liable to pay, to have taxpayer standing under section 526a?
- 2. Did the trial court err in dismissing plaintiff's complaint for lack of taxpayer standing?

#### **SUMMARY OF GROUNDS FOR REVIEW**

In the trial court, the parties entered a stipulated appealable order and judgment of dismissal based on plaintiff's lack of taxpayer standing under existing appellate case law which found that section 526a requires proof of payment of real property taxes. (See *Torres, supra*, 13 Cal.App.4th 1035; *Cornelius, supra*, 49 Cal.App.4th 1761.) Affirming the judgment, the Court of Appeal elected to apply that restrictive rule, despite that it has never been endorsed by this Court in the **105 years** since the taxpayer standing was enacted in 1909.

The Court of Appeal summarily dismissed the decisions of this Court finding taxpayer standing on the part of plaintiffs who plainly had <u>not</u> paid real property or business taxes, such as *Tobe, supra*, 9 Cal.4th 1069, 1081-1086, involving two homeless plaintiffs, and *Arrieta v. Mahon, supra*, 31 Cal.3d 381, brought by several renters who had been evicted from their

apartments, and the dozens of other decisions of this Court which granted taxpayer standing and reached the substantive merits of the plaintiff's claims without considering the specific type of taxes the plaintiff had paid, such as O'Connell v. City of Stockton (2007) 41 Cal.4th 1061 (O'Connell)which, like this case, involved a challenge to local vehicle seizure practices, and was prosecuted successfully on its merits by plaintiff's counsel at bar. (And see Samples v. Brown (1st Dist., Div. 2, 2007) 146 Cal. App. 4th 787 [constitutional challenge to Vehicle Code section 14602.6 brought by plaintiff's counsel at bar on behalf of a taxpayer who did not allege or prove payment of real property or business taxes].) The Court of Appeal said those decisions are of no consequence because this Court did not expressly consider and decide the question of what type of taxes qualify for taxpayer standing under section 526a. But the Court's many decisions granting taxpayer standing suggest the Court has impliedly answered the question in favor of affording taxpayer standing to those who have paid any tax imposed by state or local government, not simply those who have paid real property and business taxes.

The Court of Appeal rejected plaintiff's claim that limiting taxpayer standing to payment of real property and business taxes constitutes wealth-based discrimination in violation of due process and equal protection guarantees. (See Serrano v. Priest (1971) 5 Cal.3d 584 (Serrano) [wealth-based restriction of a fundamental constitutional right is subject to strict scrutiny and requires proof of a compelling state interest which justifies the disparate treatment of individuals based on wealth].) The Court of Appeal said plaintiff's equal protection "premise is flawed" because a real property and business tax requirement does not "to afford standing only to a select sub-group of the most wealthy Californians who are fortunate enough to

own real property in this state and pay taxes thereon. While it is true that persons with limited financial resources will find it difficult to purchase homes in today's market, it does not follow that home ownership correlates with an individual's wealth. Many wealthy people do not own homes, preferring instead to rent. Additionally, it is not a given that all lower income people are renters, as they may have purchased a home many years ago when their incomes were higher or may have inherited their homes from family members." (Fn. omitted.)

This reasoning is highly-offensive and unbefitting empathetic jurists. The appellate justices failed to appreciate the obvious fact that wealthy people may choose to own or rent, whereas poor people are forced to rent; and few of the poor are fortunate enough to have purchased homes decades ago when prices were lower or to have inherited property from family members. Limiting taxpayer standing to those who own real property or a retail business thus has an inherently discriminatory effect on the poor. All who are wealthy may gain taxpayer standing by electing to buy a home or start a retail business. Few who are poor have that option-plaintiff, for one, certainly does not. The Court of Appeal's failure to recognize this plain reality invokes Marie Antoinette-"Qu'ils mangent de la brioche." "If they are hungry, let them eat cake." Or, as applied here, if they are hungry for taxpayer standing, let them buy a home and start a business. "There is no equality in a law prohibiting both rich and poor from sleeping under the bridges of Paris." (Gebert v. Patterson (1st Dist., Div. 4, 1986) 186 Cal.App.3d 868, 876, internal citation omitted.) And there is no equality between rich and poor in a law affording taxpayer standing only to those taxpayers who own real property or a business.

The Court of Appeal's misguided treatment of the wealth-based

discrimination claim is magnified by its citation of *Jensen v. Franchise Tax Bd.* (2009) 178 Cal.App.4th 426, 434, for the proposition that no such discrimination is found here because "[w]ealth generally confers benefits, and does not require the special protections afforded to suspect classes." *Jensen* was referring to those who *have* wealth, not those who *lack* wealth. Limiting section 526a to those taxpayers who own real property and businesses and pay taxes thereon, does not confer a benefit on plaintiff and other taxpayers like her who are *not* wealthy enough to own real property and a business. Instead, it impermissibly denies them the same broad standing rights as are afforded wealthier taxpayers.

The Court of Appeal brushed passed *Serrano, supra,* 5 Cal.3d 584, in which this Court held that wealth-based discrimination is subject to strict scrutiny if it impacts a fundamental right— in that case, the right to a quality public education. The Court of Appeal said: "*Serrano* is inapposite because it does not purport to identify persons who cannot afford to own real property as a protected class. Thus, the rational basis test applies." *Serrano* cannot be read so narrowly. It is premised on the common sense notion that due process and equal protection guarantees will not tolerate the state's denial of a fundamental right based on lack of wealth—be it the poor school district in which one lives, as was the case in *Serrano*, or the apartment one is forced to rent because they cannot afford to buy a home, as is true here.

The fundamental right at issue here, which the Court of Appeal wholly ignored, is the "[t]he right of access to the courts[;] an aspect of the First Amendment right to petition the government for redress of grievances." (*Church of Scientology v. Wollersheim* (1996) 42 Cal.App.4th 628, 647; and see *Jersey v. John Muir Medical Center* (2002) 97 Cal.App.4th 814, 118 Cal.Rptr.2d 807, 812-813.) "The [United States

Supreme Court traditionally has held that the Due Process Clauses protect civil litigants who seek recourse in the courts, ... as plaintiffs attempting to redress grievances." (Logan v. Zimmerman Brush Co. (1982) 455 U.S. 422, 429.) Denying plaintiff and others like her the right to petition the court under the broad standing available under section 526a, simply because they are not wealthy enough to own real property or a business, denies them access to the court just the same as does a filing fee which they cannot afford to pay. Due process and equal protection principles demand the waiver of filing fees for those who cannot afford to pay them. (Boddie v. Connecticut (1971) 401 U.S. 371; Earl v. Sup. Ct. (1978) 6 Cal.3d 109.) The same principles prohibit denial of taxpayer standing based on one's inability to afford to buy a home or business. Fundamental constitutional tenants mandate that justice be accorded the rich and poor alike. (See Griffin v. Illinois (1956) 351 U.S. 12 [76 S.Ct. 585, 100 L.Ed. 891, 55 A.L.R.2d 1055].) The Court should not tolerate a rule which bases taxpayer standing on the size of the taxpayer's pocket.

In closing, the Court of Appeal reasoned that plaintiff's voice need not be heard by the court through a complaint brought under the taxpayer standing statute because there are probably plenty of like-minded home owners available to bring suit under section 526a to challenge the City and County's vehicle impound practices, and there are also aggrieved vehicle owners who have direct standing to sue. The Court of Appeal thereby overlooked this Court's decision in *Van Atta, supra,* 27 Cal. 3d 424, 447-450, expressly reaffirming the rule that taxpayer standing may not be denied on grounds that others with standing can bring suit on their own. And it is also dead wrong to presume that wealthier taxpayers, who generally own homes and businesses, will bring the same passion to the vehicle

impoundment debate as do poorer taxpayers such as plaintiff, who appreciate the hardship caused by the loss of a vehicle for 30-days because they own but <u>one</u> car, not several as do most wealthier folk.

The Court of Appeal also failed to appreciate that its taxpayer standing rule is not limited to vehicle seizure cases but applies broadly to *all* types of challenges to illegal government action. There are many causes which the poor are known to champion with more sincerity and vigor than the wealthy, such as rent control, challenges to unlawful evictions, and the plight of the homeless. (See, e.g., *Tobe, supra,* 9 Cal.4th 1069, and *Arrieta v. Mahon, supra,* 31 Cal.3d 381 [each finding taxpayer standing].) If the poor are divested of taxpayer standing, those causes will not be pursued with the same passion, if at all, and the unique perspectives of the poor litigants who champion them will not be heard. Our justice system will suffer immensely if we deny taxpayer standing to hard-working, taxpaying, citizen residents of local municipalities, like plaintiff, who are willing to stand up in court against the government and demand its compliance with the law, but are not wealthy enough, or otherwise fortunate enough, to own real property or their own business.

Review should be granted to determine what type of taxes a plaintiff must pay to qualify for taxpayer standing under section 526a, and, ultimately, whether plaintiff and others like her shall be denied taxpayer standing because they cannot afford to buy real property and start a business and pay taxes assessed thereon.

#### PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff filed a complaint for declaratory and injunctive relief on January 9, 2013. (CT 1-12.) The complaint challenges the City and County's enforcement of Vehicle Code section 14602.6, authorizing 30-day

impoundment of a motor vehicle operated by a person with a suspended or revoked driver's license. Plaintiff claims the enforcement practices are contrary to the statute's terms and violate procedural due process guarantees. Plaintiff concedes she has not suffered the impoundment of a vehicle. She claims standing as a taxpayer under section 526a. She alleges that she has paid income, sales and gasoline taxes, and water, sewage fees, and other standard fees and taxes imposed by the City, County and State, but has not paid real property taxes because she does not own and cannot afford to buy real property in California. (CT 1-2.)

Recognizing that plaintiff's claim of taxpayer standing was barred in the trial court by the Court of Appeal decisions in *Torres, supra*, 13 Cal.App.4th 1035, and *Cornelius, supra*, 49 Cal.App.4th 1761, requiring proof of payment of real property taxes, the parties stipulated to entry of a judgment of dismissal which reserved plaintiff's right of appeal. The judgment was entered on April 22, 2013. (CT 13-15.) Plaintiff timely filed a Notice of Appeal on June 11, 2013. (CT 21.)

On appeal, plaintiff argued that *Torres* and *Cornelius* were wrongly decided and section 526a should be interpreted to provide taxpayer standing to a plaintiff who has paid *any* type of tax imposed by state or local government, including income, sales and gasoline taxes, as well as real property taxes. Plaintiff claimed that limiting section 526a to payment of real property taxes would constitute wealth-based discrimination in violation of due process and equal protection guarantees.

In response, the City and County countered each of these arguments. They also added *Santa Barbara Co. Coalition Against Automobile*Subsidies v. Santa Barbara Co. Assn. of Governments (2<sup>nd</sup> Dist., Div. 6, 2008) 167 Cal.App.4th 1229 (Santa Barbara Co.) to the mix for the first

Barbara Co. found the plaintiff in that case had taxpayer standing under section 526a because he had paid sales taxes assessed on his business—the retail sale of T-shirts. Santa Barbara Co. reasoned that a business owners who has paid sales tax satisfies the requirements of section 526a because the sale tax is assessed directly on the business owner; whereas sales taxes paid by consumers do not satisfy section 526a because sales taxes are technically assessed on the retailer, not the consumer, though as practical matter retailers simply pass the tax on to consumers who pay it at the time of purchase. (167 Cal.App.4th at p. 1236.) The City and County thus argued that taxpayer standing is satisfied by payment of either real property or business taxes; and because plaintiff at bar has not paid either of those taxes, she lacks taxpayer standing.

In reply, plaintiff argued that section 526a should not be limited to payment of real property and business taxes, but should also include payment of *any* other type of tax assessed by state and local government, including income, sales and gasoline taxes. Plaintiff noted the express allegation in her complaint that she down not own and cannot afford to buy real property. She added that she also does not own and cannot afford to start her own business. She claimed that limiting section 526a to payment of real property and business taxes would constitute wealth-based discrimination and violate due process and equal protection guarantees

The Court of Appeal issued a published opinion on May 22, 2014, affirming the judgment of dismissal based on plaintiff's lack of taxpayer standing. (Ex. 1 hereto.) The Court of Appeal elected to follow *Torres*, , *Cornelius*, and *Santa Barbara Co*. and accordingly found that section 526 requires proof of payment of real property or business taxes; payment of

income, sales and gasoline taxes do not suffice.

The Court of Appeal acknowledged that this Court has found taxpayer standing on the part of plaintiffs who plainly had <u>not</u> paid real property or business taxes, such as *Tobe, supra,* 9 Cal.4th 1069, 1081-1086, involving two homeless plaintiffs, and *Arrieta v. Mahon, supra,* 31 Cal.3d 381, brought by several former renters who had been evicted from their apartments, and that the Court has issued dozens of other decisions which granted taxpayer standing to the plaintiff without consideration of the specific type of taxes the plaintiff had paid. The Court of Appeal said those decisions are not precedent because this Court did not expressly consider and decide the question of what type of taxes qualify for taxpayer standing under section 526a.

The Court of Appeal rejected plaintiff's claim that limiting taxpayer standing to payment of real property and business taxes would constitute wealth-based discrimination in violation of due process and equal protection guarantees. The court said, in sum, that plaintiff's "premise is flawed" because there are some rich people who do not own homes or business and some poor people who do, so a real property and business tax requirement does not limit standing only to a select sub-group of the most wealthy Californians. The court also said that lack of home ownership has never been identified as a suspect class, so the taxpayer limitation is subject to the rational basis test. The court found a rational basis exists for limiting section 526a to real property and business taxpayers because payment of such taxes vest the taxpayer with"a sufficiently personal interest in the illegal expenditure of funds by county officials to become dedicated

adversaries." (Blair, supra, 5 Cal.3d at p. 270.)3

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