No. S219567

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CHERRITY WHEATHERFORD,

Plaintiff/Appellant/Petitioner,

vs.

CITY OF SAN RAFAEL, et al.

Defendants/Respondents.

SUPREME COURT

A/16 1 5 2014

Frank A. MoGuire Clerk

Deputy

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

On Review of the Published Decision of the Court of Appeal, First District, Division One, *Wheatherford v. City of San Rafael* (May 22, 2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 460 [Petition for Rehearing Denied June 16, 2012] Appellate Case No. A138949

On Appeal from the Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California, County of Marin, the Honorable Roy Chernus, Judge, Presiding Superior Court Case No. CIV 1300112

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. A PLAINTIFF MUST PAY, OR BE LIABLE TO PAY, A DIRECTLY ASSESSED TAX IN ORDER TO HAVE TAXPAYER STANDING UNDER SECTION 526A.

i. The Plain Language of Section 526a Establishes that a Plaintiff Must Pay, or Be Liable to Pay, a Directly Assessed Tax in Order to Have Taxpayer Standing.

In interpreting statutory language, the fundamental task of the reviewing court is to "ascertain the aim and goal of the lawmakers so as to effectuate the purpose of the statute." (*McAllister v. California Coastal Com.* (2008) 169 Cal.App.4th 912, 928.) Courts accomplish this, when possible, by "giving the words of the statute their ordinary, everyday meaning." (*Cummings v. Stanley* (2009) 177 Cal.App.4th 493, 507.) Using this approach, it becomes clear, for reasons explained at greater length below, that the payment of sales and gasoline taxes, as well as various municipal fees, remains an insufficient basis upon which to claim taxpayer standing. Payment of a tax assessed *directly* upon a taxpayer, however, such as property or business taxes, is sufficient.

Per the plain language of section 526a, an individual may make use of the taxpayer standing provision as against a municipality when that individual has been "assessed for and is liable to pay, or, within one year before the commencement of the action, has paid, a tax therein." (Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 526a.) Individuals who pay passed-through taxes for which the individual is not himself assessed, such sales and gasoline tax, cannot be said to have paid an "assessed tax" within the meaning of section 526a. Nor can individuals who pay water, sewage and other municipal fees and charges be said to have paid "a tax" for the purposes of section 526a. The statute very clearly limits taxpayer standing to "two classes of persons who have been assessed for taxes: (1) those who are liable to pay an assessed tax but who have not yet paid, and (2) those who paid an assessed tax within one year before the filing of the lawsuit." (*Wheatherford, supra*, 226 Cal.App.4th at p. 466.)

The First District Court of Appeal, Division One, opinion in this matter is wholly consistent with a plain reading of section 526a. Thus, the language of the statute provides n o basis for granting a Petition for Review.

ii. Appellate Court Precedent Unanimously Establishes that a Plaintiff Must Pay, or Be Liable to Pay, a Directly Assessed Tax in Order to Have Taxpayer Standing.

To avoid the result dictated by a commonsense reading of section 526a, Appellant asks this Court to interpret the statute to allow payment of *any* form of tax or municipal fee to automatically trigger taxpayer standing under section 526a. In doing so, Appellant is not seeking a ruling that would serve to create uniformity of decision or settle an important question of law. Appellant, rather, is requesting that this Court not only read section 526a's plain meaning out of the statute, but also that it overturn all existing appellate court precedent on the issue of taxpayer standing.

Answer to Petition for Review Case No. S219567

Appellant's suggestion that payment of a sales tax by a consumer should serve to trigger section 526a's taxpayer standing provision is controverted by a multitude of cases that expressly hold that sales taxes are levied against retailers, not consumers, and thus a consumer's payment of sales tax is an insufficient basis upon which to found section 526a standing. (See Torres v. City of Yorba Linda (1993) 13 Cal.App.4th 1035 (Torres); Cornelius v. Los Angeles Co. Metro. Transp. Auth. (1996) 49 Cal.App.4th 1761 (Cornelius); Santa Barbara Co. Coalition Against Automobile Subsidies v. Santa Barbara Co. Assn. of Governments (2008) 167 Cal.App.4th 1229 (Santa Barbara); Revnolds v. City of Calistoga (2014) 223 Cal.App.4th 865.) As these cases diligently explain, even though the price of goods purchased by a consumer may be increased by the amount of the sales tax, "the tax [i]s imposed on the person who sold the goods to [the consumer]." (Torres, supra, 13 Cal.App.4th at p. 1048, emphasis added.) Thus, "[e]ven if a merchant passes the tax on to the consumer... a sales tax is considered a tax on the retailer." (Santa Barbara, supra, at p. 1236, citing Cornelius, supra, 49 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1777-1778.) Section 526a consequently does not confer taxpayer standing on mere purchasers of goods, and no appellate court has ever held that it does.

Similarly, it has long been established that a consumer's repayment of gasoline taxes to a gas vendor can no more endow that consumer with taxpayer standing than can the repayment of a sales tax to a business owner. (*Cornelius, supra,* 49 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1777-1778.) Again, this is because gas taxes are imposed upon the vendors of gasoline, not the consumers of gasoline. (*See* Rev. and Tax. Code §§ 7361 ["For the privilege of storing, for the purpose of removal, sale, or use, every distributor owning motor vehicle fuel... shall pay a tax..."

Answer to Petition for Review Case No. S219567

and 8733 ["The tax required to be collected by the vendor constitutes a debt owed by the vendor to this State"].) Section 526a consequently does not confer taxpayer standing on consumers of gasoline, and, again, no appellate court has ever held that it does.

Finally, Appellant's remittance of water and sewage fees to the County does not, and cannot, lay the foundation for plaintiffs to bring a section 526a taxpayer action against the County. There are fundamental differences between taxes and fees, and section 526a most explicitly requires payment of "a tax." (Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 526a.) "The essence of a tax is that it raises revenue for general governmental purposes and is 'compulsory rather than imposed in response to a voluntary decision ... to seek ... benefits." (*Northwest Energetic Services, LLC v. California Franchise Tax Bd.* (2008) 159 Cal.App.4th 841, 854 [citing *Sinclair Paint Co. v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 866, 874].) "A fee, on the other hand, funds a regulatory program or compensates for services or benefits provided by the government." (*Id.*) Payment of a municipal fee does not amount to payment of a tax for purposes of section 526a, and no appellate court has ever found that it does.

Although Appellant attempts to characterize the state of the law regarding what sort of tax payments are required by section 526a as ambiguous and variable, this is simply not the case. Never, in the 105 years since section 562a was enacted in 1909⁴, has a California court of appeal found a consumer's payment of sales or gasoline taxes, or any sort of municipal fee, to be sufficient to trigger section 526a's

⁴ Section 526a was approved as Senate Bill 924 in 1909. It is referenced in the Senate Journal, Senate Final History, Thirty-eighth Session, 1909, Final Calendar of Legislative Business, at p. 212. (Legislative Research & Intent LLC, http://192.234.213.35/clerkarchive/ <as of October 22, 2013>.)

taxpayer standing provisions. The appellate courts have, quite to the contrary, unanimously and unwaveringly held that payment of a tax assessed directly upon the taxpayer is required. Such assessed taxes include, but are not limited to, real property taxes. (*Wheatherford*, *supra*, 226 Cal.App.4th at p. 467, fn. 6.)

The First District Court of Appeal, Division One, opinion in this matter is wholly consistent with a plain reading of section 526a. Thus, existing appellate court precedent provides no basis for granting a Petition for Review.

iii. Supreme Court Treatment of Section 526a Does Not Conflict with Appellate Court Precedent Establishing that a Plaintiff Must Pay, or Be Liable to Pay, a Directly Assessed Tax in Order to Have Taxpayer Standing.

The Supreme Court has never disagreed with the fact that section 526a requires that an individual pay an assessed tax – that is, a tax which has been directly imposed on that individual - in order to qualify as a "taxpayer" for purposes of 526a standing. (See, e.g. Torres, supra, 13 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1047-1048; Cornelius, supra, 49 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1775-1778.) There are, as Appellant points out, a multitude of Supreme Court cases in which plaintiffs were afforded section 526a taxpayer standing, but in which the Court declined to explicitly consider or discuss the type of taxes these plaintiffs had paid in order to become section 526a taxpayers. (Appellant's Petition, at pp. Such cases do little, however, to inform the present 16 – 19.) discussion, as "cases are not precedent for issues not considered and decided." (Camarillo v. Vaage (2003) 105 Cal.App.4th 552, 565.) Because the Supreme Court, in reaching its decisions in those cases enumerated by Appellant, did not consider or decide what taxes

Answer to Petition for Review Case No. S219567

plaintiffs had paid in order to enjoy taxpayer standing, the cases cannot and do not serve as precedent for the question now before this Court.

Despite this fact, Appellant insists that this Court should use two such cases to guide the present discussion. Specifically, Appellant calls attention to Tobe v. City of Santa Ana (1995) 9 Cal.4th 1069 (Tobe), wherein plaintiffs, some of whom were homeless, brought an action to bar the enforcement of a city ordinance that banned camping and storage of personal effects in public areas throughout the city. (Id. at pp. 1081-1082.) In the course of reaching its decision, the Court held that, although the challenge to the ordinance failed for other reasons, plaintiffs did have standing to bring the action as section 526a taxpayers. (Id. at p. 1086.) There is no indication, however, that the Court considered the issue of what taxes - real property, business. or otherwise – plaintiffs had paid to enjoy this standing. The main focus of the case, and the entire discussion in the case, was geared toward Appellant's suggestion that the separate constitutional concerns. homeless plaintiffs in Tobe had "plainly... not paid real property or business taxes" (Appellant's Petition, at p. 20) fundamentally mischaracterizes not only the facts of the case, but also attempts to turn an issue that that the Court did not consider or decide upon into something with precedential value.

Similarly, in *Arrieta v. Mahon* (1982) 31 Cal.3d 381 (*Arrieta*), plaintiffs were a group of tenants who brought a 526a taxpayer's action to challenge the county marshal's policy of evicting all occupants when enforcing a writ of execution after an unlawful detainer judgment, regardless of whether or not the occupants were actually named in the writ. (*Id.* at p. 385.) Again, the Supreme Court concluded that the plaintiffs had standing to bring the suit under section 526a. (*Id.*, at p.

Answer to Petition for Review Case No. S219567

387.) And again, the Court did not discuss the issue of what specific taxes plaintiffs had paid – real property, business, or otherwise – that served to render them proper recipients of taxpayer standing. As such, Appellant's claim that the plaintiffs in *Arrieta* "plainly had <u>not</u> paid real property or business taxes, and necessarily paid other forms of taxes" (Appellant's Petition, at p. 4) is against a blatant mischaracterization of the stated case facts as well as a hollow attempt to conjure precedential value out of case that never actually addressed the issue at hand.

Because the Supreme Court, in reaching its decisions in *Tobe* and *Arrieta*, did not consider or decide what taxes plaintiffs had paid in order to enjoy taxpayer standing, these cases are no more illuminating than the multitude of others listed in Appellant's Petition that offhandedly deem plaintiffs to be "taxpayers" prior to addressing the merits of the case. And it cannot realistically be said that plaintiffs in those two cases did not pay property taxes or another sort of tax directly assessed upon them; we simply do not know.

There are, on the other hand, a handful of cases in which this Court has engaged in a more substantive discussion of the types of taxes paid by plaintiffs in order to properly invoke section 526a. And these cases uniformly and explicitly support existing appellate court precedent, including the *Wheatherford* opinion. Specifically, in *Blair v. Pitchess* (1971) 5 Cal.3d 258, the Supreme Court found that plaintiffs properly qualified for section 526a taxpayer standing because they were residents of the County of Los Angeles and had been assessed and paid real property taxes therein. (*Id.*, at p 285.) In *Irwin v. City of Manhattan Beach* (1966) 65 Cal.2d 13, the Court held that a city nonresident, who owned and paid property taxes within the city, could properly bring a taxpayer suit under section 526a. (*Id.*, at pp. 18-20.)

Answer to Petition for Review Case No. S219567

And in *Serrano v. Priest* (1971) 5 Cal.3d 584, plaintiffs were allowed to move forward with their taxpayer suit based on their allegations that they were citizens and residents of Los Angeles County who owned real property assessed by the county. (*Id.* at p. 618.)

Thus, in each and every case in which this Court has specifically turned its attention to the issue of what sort of taxes are sufficient to support section 526a taxpayer standing, the Court has found that only plaintiffs who are directly "assessed for and are liable to pay...a tax" can be the proper recipients of section 526a standing. (Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 526a.) This is in direct accordance with the plain language of section 526a, all existing appellate court precedent, and the decision now at issue in *Wheatherford*. Thus, existing Supreme Court case law provides no basis for granting a Petition for Review.

B. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DISMISSING PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT FOR LACK OF TAXPAYER STANDING.

In general, "an action not founded upon an actual controversy between the parties to it, and brought for the purpose of securing a determination of a point of law, is collusive, and will not be entertained; and the same is true of a suit the sole object of which is to settle rights of third persons who are not parties." (*Golden Gate Bridge & Highway Dist. v. Felt* (1931) 214 Cal. 308, 316.) Only if an action "meets the requirements of section 526a" will it "present a true case or controversy." (*Blair, supra*, 5 Cal.3d at p. 269.)

Because Appellant's present action fails to meet the requirements of section 526a for the reasons discussed above, and because her underlying pleading contains no allegations that her vehicle has been or will be subjected to impoundment under the Vehicle Code, the present

Answer to Petition for Review Case No. S219567

action does not present a true case or controversy. And, as such, it was not cognizable by the trial court, and was properly dismissed.

IV. CONCLUSION

In light of the fact that Appellant's Petition does not meet the standard for review under Rule 8.500(b), and Supreme Court review is not necessary to either secure uniformity of decision or settle an important question of law, the County respectfully requests that the order of the trial court dismissing Appellant's complaint for lack of standing be affirmed and Appellant's Petition for Supreme Court review be denied.